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              Las Vegas, Nevada, Wednesday, February 19, 2020 

 

[Case called at 10:44 a.m.] 

THE COURT:  Smith Plastic Surgery, Inc. versus 

Christopher Khorsandi, M.D.  Case Number A804819.  Counsel, 

please note your appearances for the record. 

MS. ARLEDGE:  Good morning, Your Honor.  Jennifer 

Arledge on behalf of Plaintiffs. 

MR. PISANELLI:  Good morning, Your Honor.  James 

Pisanelli on behalf of Defendants. 

MS. BUCHWALD:  Emily Buchwald on behalf of 

Defendants. 

THE COURT:  Okay.  We’re here on Defendant’s Motion to 

Dismiss Pursuant to NRS 41.660, or in the Alternative, Motion to 

Dismiss Pursuant to NRCP 12(b)(5). 

Mr. Pisanelli, let me -- on the SLAPP suit --  

MR. PISANELLI:  Yes, sir. 

THE COURT:  -- here’s sort of the thing I’m looking at.  I 

mean, the statute protects a good faith statement in a public forum, 

but your clients are claiming they didn’t make the statement. 

MR. PISANELLI:  Right.  

THE COURT:  So I’m not 100 percent sure if the statute 

applies to them.  That’s sort of I mean --  

MR. PISANELLI:  Sure. 

THE COURT:  And then if -- assuming they did make the 

APP 140



 

Page 3  

1 

2 

3 

4 

5 

6 

7 

8 

9 

10 

11 

12 

13 

14 

15 

16 

17 

18 

19 

20 

21 

22 

23 

24 

25 

 

statement, I’m not sure that it would be a good faith statement 

since they’ve never been, you know, clients of the Plaintiff.  So -- 

MR. PISANELLI:  Right.  

THE COURT:  I’m not -- if you represented a client of 

Defendant who was dissatisfied with their work and went on Yelp 

and made these statements, I’d tend to think you’d probably -- do 

have a SLAPP action, but I’m just not sure you do here.  So I’d like 

your guidance or thoughts on that. 

MR. PISANELLI:  Sure.  May I? 

THE COURT:  Sure. 

MR. PISANELLI:  So, Your Honor, interesting opening 

question because I’ll tell that’s the question we wrestled with in our 

group.  And, you know, what we found ourselves dealing with is 

this scenario that on the one hand we have an Anti-SLAPP statute 

that would protect somebody who said something that is 

potentially, if not privileged or protected, defamatory about another 

person. 

But because it’s in the public interest or another category 

if it were, you know, petitioning the government for redress they 

would have protection and so now we compare that to someone 

here that the type of statement at issue is clearly one that would fall 

within the statute because it’s a public interest, these skills, the type 

of service provided by a doctor. 

THE COURT:  I agree that if it was a --  

MR. PISANELLI:  Yeah. 
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THE COURT:  -- client of the doctor -- the Defendant doctor 

that it would probably --  

MR. PISANELLI:  Sure. 

THE COURT:  -- fall within the statute and I mean --  

MR. PISANELLI:  And so --  

THE COURT:  -- you know --  

MR. PISANELLI:  And so doing that side-by-side analysis, 

it seemed to us to be an absurd result that somebody who actually 

did something harmful would have protection against the lawsuit, 

but somebody who is wrongly accused in what clearly is a 

vexatious litigation wouldn’t have that same protection. 

So we looked of course the first place anybody here 

standing before you would look and see what our Supreme Court 

said about the point and it’s not the first time we’ve come up with 

no specific opinion on the point but -- so we did do as our Supreme 

Court tells us to do on Anti-SLAPP matters in particular and looked 

to California for what they’ve done in similar circumstances and 

found the Morales decision, we’ve cited before you, to be on point. 

And if I could quote it, the Court there said -- and this 

comparison that I’ve just described to you -- otherwise, the Court 

said:  A Defendant who disputes the Plaintiff’s allegation might be 

precluded from bringing an Anti-SLAPP motion that would have the 

perverse effect, the Court said, of making Anti-SLAPP relief 

unavailable when a plaintiff makes a baseless claim. 

I think the point being from that decision is the 
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baselessness that should carry the day and not the element of good 

faith because the good faith on the one hand for someone who 

actually did cause harm, did you know that it was untrue when you 

made the statement for example and if they give sworn testimony 

or other evidence that says I didn’t intentionally intend to harm 

good faith then they get the protection. 

Here, we go much further from an evidentiary perspective 

by saying not only did I not intentionally or knowingly say 

something false about you, I didn’t say it at all.   

And so from that Morales decision we think, Your Honor, 

that if presented to the Supreme Court, our high court would agree 

as well that this type of circumstance where all other elements of 

the Anti-SLAPP statute apply, the good faith element shouldn’t be 

the disqualifying factor because the parties came forward and 

showed what is ultimately their good faith on the analysis of 

potential harm to the Plaintiff because we didn’t do it in the first 

place. 

And so to fall back then, once the good faith element has 

been established by that sworn testimony to see, you know, even 

assuming it was true, almost analogous to a 12(b) analysis.  But 

even if it was true, having established good faith, let’s go through 

the two-prong test and you would see here, in particular that the 

Plaintiff hasn’t established -- or carried their burden under the 

second prong of the test; that is our Supreme Court says when 

evidence is presented, which was done here through sworn 
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testimony, to establish the good faith element and that it’s an issue 

of public concern, your doctor’s care is clearly an element of public 

concern, the burden would have then shifted to the Plaintiff.  And 

what does the Plaintiff have to say to carry their burden that they’re 

likely to succeed?   

Our Supreme Court is crystal clear on this point that this is 

not a 12(b) analysis.  You can’t just say assume what I alleged 

against you is true.  Now you have an evidentiary burden and the 

Courts -- or our Court and California Courts specifically say under 

these circumstances if you don’t come forward with the evidence to 

carry your burden to show that you're likely to succeed, then the 

motion should be granted. 

Here this plaintiff conceded through their silence a 

number of things.  They don’t have any evidence for these 

allegations that we were the authors, that there was a bad faith, that 

there was defamatory conduct, et cetera.  If they’re silent, they 

didn’t give you any evidence whatsoever but instead conflated the 

Rule 12 standard with the Anti-SLAPP standard.   

Anti-SLAPP standard, of course, is a summary judgment 

type of analysis so what we’re talking about, I think as the sole 

issue, Your Honor, for whether the Anti-SLAPP statute or the Anti-

SLAPP motion is -- should be granted, is the question you raised.  

Everything else about it, including that is a meritless bad faith, 

vexatious litigation has been established. 

And, you know, you saw I’m sure, you know, Exhibit D, 
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Mister -- Dr. Khorsandi’s Declaration where he shows this 

threatening letter he gets, this newspaper written on it, you know, 

prepare for bankruptcy, get your checkbook out.  And that’s exactly 

what Anti-SLAPP statute is intended to prevent is someone who 

says I’m going to use this process to harm you because you had the 

audacity to speak out against me.   

He sued his own patients.  Now he’s upped his game of 

suing his competitors, his words, to drive them into bankruptcy 

through the fees associated with the case and even to ruin their 

own reputation.  What is behind the negative publicity if this case 

goes forward I think we’re going to find some fingerprints all over it 

but I will note silence in Dr. Smith’s Opposition to this point about 

this threatening letter and writing over the I think it’s the RJ Article, 

prepare for bankruptcy, get your checkbook out.  Silence.  Didn’t 

even bother to deny that he’s the one that sent that threatening 

letter. 

So long way of answering this question, our statute, our 

court is silent on the issue of what do we do where good faith is 

established by a denial?  Are you left out in the cold where you 

have to go through what Dr. Smith is intending to do, the pain of 

litigation and discovery, et cetera?  Or is -- would our high court do 

what California has done and say under those circumstances, that’s 

California’s words, it would be a perverse effect to say that the 

ultimate good faith actor gets less protection than someone who 

actually caused harm, albeit privileged, in an analogous scenario? 
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So we would ask Your Honor understanding that you have 

to predict what our Supreme Court would do on this, to say that our 

court would expand that language to a point where they -- well, 

because they perhaps didn’t expect or anticipate -- just like 

California didn’t because they’ve had to address the issue through 

its courts as well. 

Now I would also make a point, Your Honor, that while the 

Anti-SLAPP statute has a two-pronged approach, so too does our 

motion, right?  If we go through every element under Rule 12 itself, 

what we find here is allegations that are nothing more but -- and I 

mean, the best read of them it’s a recital of the elements, that’s it.  

and that’s certainly not good on a context of the defamation claims, 

we have a claim at best against Dr. Khorsandi about what he was 

saying to a patient, clearly a privileged communication.  Six other 

claims suing Dr. Khorsandi and the practice for -- and these all 

these Doe defendants for what they claim one person, Dr. 

Khorsandi’s wife said, the law doesn’t allow that either.  That’s a 

huge overreach. 

The concept of intentional interference with economic 

expectancy or advantage, that’s probably the furthest leap of all 

where they say that these Yelp reviews that were taken down in one 

day would have resulted in every person who ever read it would 

have come to him as a patient, notwithstanding that there’s a whole 

slew of other negative reviews on Yelp about him that didn’t come 

down on that day.  So there’s no even factual allegation to connect 
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those types of harms. 

And we’ve gone through -- in our Complaint there’s a flaw 

in every single one of these claims under Rule 12 analysis and it’s 

not a surprise.  When you think about what the purpose of this 

Complaint was it was to harass, it was to cause pain to Dr. 

Khorsandi, it wasn’t really for the litigation of aggrievance.  It was 

to cause pain.  We know that from the article that he sent him.  So 

whether it be under the Anti-SLAPP statute or Rule 12, we’d ask 

Your Honor not to allow this to go any further. 

THE COURT:  I got to -- on the Rule 12, I’ll be honest with 

you, I mean, I agree with you that the Complaint’s pretty general --  

MR. PISANELLI:  Yeah. 

THE COURT:  -- I mean, but I’m not sure I necessarily 

agree that for purposes of a Motion to Dismiss that that’s 

appropriate here.  I mean, in large part, you know, this looks more -- 

what you're arguing as a summary judgment and that they have no 

evidence that your client’s made this -- state these -- these 

statements.  I’m just not sure that that’s -- that, you know, at this 

point with a Motion to Dismiss that that on a Rule 12 basis that 

applies.   

I’m more interested on the idea that this falls within the 

SLAPP because --  

MR. PISANELLI:  Sure. 

THE COURT:  -- I tend to agree, you know, if you look at it 

and then the -- if you establish by a preponderance of the evidence 
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that the claim is based on a good faith communication in 

furtherance to right to petition or right to free speech, you know, I 

don’t know if there’s truly a preponderance of the evidence there 

yet to establish -- that the defense has established between the -- I 

mean, I’m -- I’ll be frank I’m really -- I’m anxious to hear what I 

missed because I -- other than the posts show they came from Las 

Vegas and reference your client, I’m not sure what evidence is out 

there that they made this. 

MR. PISANELLI:  Yeah and I think, Your Honor, 

respectfully you gave them a little more benefit of the doubt than 

even their Complaint said.  I mean, they said that the posts came 

from a place in the United States where the Khorsandis are located 

so that’s a big geographical spot on the planet that they say you're 

somewhere in this country and we think these posts came from this 

country.  That’s the totality of the allegations in there, you know?   

Setting aside the flawed analysis and missing allegations 

by holding one party, Dr. Khorsandi, trying to hold him liable for a 

statement they alleged made by [indiscernible], the law doesn’t 

allow that.  They don’t have the necessary allegations there.   

I would -- you know, I understand it’s probably a largely 

an academic analysis because under Rule 12 I have a very thin 

argument to say that they shouldn’t get a chance to replead first 

time out of the gate.  And if they’re willing to plead without any 

knowledge, just saying we need discovery to find it, I have no doubt 

then they’ll put in some baseless claim that Dr. Khorsandi, you 
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know, helped co-author it or something just to get over this Rule 12 

motion and I get that. 

But the flaws associated with the other claims, the 

missing elements that are just not there, I just question, you know, 

how far can they go when we know -- I’m asking Your Honor to 

filter what they’re doing through this threatening letter that’s 

attached to Dr. Khorsandi’s Declaration.  That’s really -- I mean, it’s 

shocking bad faith if that’s what Dr. Smith is up to here.  And I’d 

hate to see him succeed by being able to inflict that harm 

associated with the discovery in a drawn-out process because he’s 

not looking to win this case, that’s clear.  He’s just looking to hurt 

somebody through the process. 

And so, you know, you're right, I think you hit the nail on 

the head from your very first question, it’s an issue of what would 

the Supreme Court do and we follow California law and say that it 

would be perverse to allow the ultimate good faith actor no 

protection but somebody who actually did, they get the protection 

and I think, you know, that probably comes down to the dual 

purpose of the Anti-SLAPP statute.   

On the one hand it is to, like we’re asking, do away with 

meritless vexatious litigation.  On the other hand it’s to promote 

people’s ability to make speech, right?  Free speech, protected 

speech.  And if the Supreme Court says the purpose of the statute is 

solely the latter issue, your point’s well-taken, right?  We didn’t 

make that speech and so there’s nothing to be promoted when we 
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didn’t say it in the first place.   

But if there’s a dual purpose here, and we think there is, 

then that vexatious litigation on matters like this should be -- should 

encapsulate everybody who is a victim of this type of litigation and 

we think the Supreme Court would be interested in it. 

THE COURT:  Okay.  

MR. PISANELLI:  Okay.   

THE COURT:  Thank you. 

MR. PISANELLI:  Thank you. 

THE COURT:  All right.  Let me hear from the Plaintiff.  I’d 

sort of like you to deal with that initial -- I -- does the SLAPP statute 

apply because if it applies, then I think you’ve got some trouble 

with what you’ve alleged so far in terms of a factual basis, so --  

MS. ARLEDGE:  Yeah.  Right.  And it’s Plaintiff’s position, 

Your Honor, that the Anti-SLAPP statute does not apply.  Thankfully 

we have a statute that gives us the step-by-step analysis that has to 

be undertaken by the Court and the consequences depending on 

the findings of the Court.  And that’s NRS 41.660.   

And the Court really seemed to hit on our point in our 

Opposition that these circumstances don’t apply because one, the 

only evidence we have in this case from the Defendants are the two 

declarations of Dr. Khorsandi and his wife and those declarations 

each say I didn’t say it, I didn’t write it, I’m not responsible for the 

communication.   

And as a threshold matter, there has to be a 
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communication that was made in good faith in furtherance of the 

right to free speech or with an issue of public concern.  That is 

number one under 41.660. 

Now if you have that situation subsection (a) says:  The 

person against whom the action is brought may file a special 

Motion to Dismiss. 

And that’s what the Defendants did.   

Our position, Your Honor, is that they are not entitled to 

file a special Motion to Dismiss pursuant to this statute because 

they deny making a communication at all.  But let’s assume for 

purposes of discussion today that they claimed they made the 

statement, all right?  So other -- if they don’t make the statement 

we’re done with the analysis.  But let’s assume they made the 

statement.   

The sec -- the next analysis it has to be undertaken is 

subsection (3):  If a special Motion to Dismiss is filed the Court shall, 

(A), determine whether the moving party, the Defendants have 

established by a preponderance of the evidence that the claim is 

based on a good faith communication -- again no communication -- 

in furtherance of the right to free speech or in connection with an 

issue of public concern. 

So even if the Court entertains the Motion to Dismiss, they 

have not met the first prong of the analysis that Your Honor has to 

undertake. 

THE COURT:  Well you're saying they haven’t met the first 
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prong because they’re denying making --  

MS. ARLEDGE:  That’s correct. 

THE COURT:  -- the communication. 

MS. ARLEDGE:  That’s correct. 

THE COURT:  Okay. 

MS. ARLEDGE:  All right.  

THE COURT:  All right.  

MS. ARLEDGE:  So let’s assume --  

THE COURT:  I agree if you make a assumption that they 

did make the communication that I -- you know, since they never 

was a client and these are representations theoretically made by a 

client as to the incompetence of your client that they’d probably be 

in bad faith.  But they’re saying they never made the 

communications at all and so I guess the ultimate issue here is does 

that fall within the statute.  You're saying it’s not -- they’re pointing 

me to California case -- I mean, do you have any thoughts on that 

case and why that case isn’t --  

MS. ARLEDGE:  Well I do have --  

THE COURT:  -- perfectly --  

MS. ARLEDGE:  -- thoughts and I -- we don’t have to   

adopt --  

THE COURT:  Because I agree with you if your clients 

made the statement -- or not your clients, their clients made the 

statements, or we assume their clients made the statements then 

this isn’t probably a good faith communication because they 
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weren’t clients and they -- it makes a representation that they were 

clients and received bad service.   

So that’s -- so ultimately the issue is does them denying it 

play a -- turn on the Anti-SLAPP statute, which then would require 

that you establish, you know, a basis belief that -- a prima facie case 

that you have it to prevail. 

MS. ARLEDGE:  Well sure. 

THE COURT:  And at this point in time, you know, just 

saying, you know, Yelp shows that this occurred here and it makes 

reference to, you know, having to go to Defendant -- I’m not sure 

rises to a level of prima facie case. 

MS. ARLEDGE:  And I would submit that they haven’t 

even gotten past the preponderance of the evidence standard to 

even get to whether Plaintiff has -- have presented a prima facie 

case.   

THE COURT:  I mean, they’re making the statement that 

they didn’t do it.  I mean, you're not giving me anything in 

contradict --  

MS. ARLEDGE:  Trying to get there. 

THE COURT:  -- contradictory to it other -- you know, so I -- 

okay, so that -- let’s cut to that.   

MS. ARLEDGE:  Sure. 

THE COURT:  What do you got in contradiction to this 

because --  

MS. ARLEDGE:  Sure, Your Honor. 
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THE COURT:  -- I mean, I --  

MS. ARLEDGE:  Okay.  So -- well let’s go -- so if --  

THE COURT:  Well no, wait.  Before we do, what’s your 

thoughts on the -- I think it was Morales, the California case that 

was cited. 

MS. ARLEDGE:  Well it’s obviously a California case, it’s 

not a Nevada Supreme Court case.  We don’t know what the 

Supreme Court would do.  It’s certainly not binding authority under 

that circumstance.   

But if we go on further in the statute, I think Morales 

doesn’t even apply and we don’t even --  

THE COURT:  All right.   

MS. ARLEDGE:  -- have to discuss --  

THE COURT:  I’ll let you go on. 

MS. ARLEDGE:  -- it -- and that’s why --  

THE COURT:  I’m sorry. 

MS. ARLEDGE:  That’s -- no, Your Honor.  I’m happy to 

answer your questions. 

So let’s assume they made the statement they have 

established by a preponderance of the evidence the claim was 

based on a good faith communication and then the burden 

switches to the Plaintiff as the non-moving party to demonstrate a 

prima facie case. 

So, Your Honor, if we could jump ahead to subsection (4) 

of --  
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THE COURT:  Okay.  

MS. ARLEDGE:  -- the same statute which says:  Upon a 

showing by a party that information is necessary to meet or oppose 

the burden. 

This is much like NRCP 56 where if the opposing party 

says they need more time to do some discovery, discovery will be 

had prior to the granting of a summary judgment.  And remember 

this was a summary judgment standard because if this motion is 

granted with prejudice --  

THE COURT:  I don’t think --  

MS. ARLEDGE:  -- the claim is over. 

THE COURT:  I don’t think it is a summary judgment 

standard but I think the legislature changed that in 2013 when it put 

in, you know, that moving party only has to establish by a 

preponderance of the evidence the claim is based on good faith 

communication.  

At that point the burden shifts to you to demonstrate 

prima facie evidence.  I don’t think it’s a summary judgment 

standard of where there is an issue of fact for the jury.  

MS. ARLEDGE:  What I meant by a summary judgment 

standard, Your Honor, is under Rule 56, if a party asserts that they 

need to conduct additional discovery --  

THE COURT:  Now that -- and that has crossed my mind.  I 

hadn’t thought about subsection (4), but -- okay, let’s go that way. 

MS. ARLEDGE:  Okay.  
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THE COURT:  What discovery do you think you can do 

which is going to raise a prima facie case that -- these comments 

were made by the Defendant and the Defendant’s wife -- or I guess 

she’s a Defendant too but I --  

MS. ARLEDGE:  Your Honor --  

THE COURT:  Defendants, plural. 

MS. ARLEDGE:  -- Plaintiffs would have not filed a 

Complaint if they didn’t have a good faith basis to believe that Mrs. 

Khorsandi was responsible for these Yelp posts.  So --  

THE COURT:  I would hope not. 

MS. ARLEDGE:  -- the discovery that would be had would 

be with respect to some of these posts.   

So I have three examples just to provide Your Honor.  I 

know the Complaint said within the United States, but one example 

is going to be Toronto, Canada.  We have a post from Dr. 

Khorsandi’s Instagram page dated September 8th -- excuse me, 

September 7th, 2018 that he’s in Toronto as a guest speaker at a 

symposium.  The -- 

THE COURT:  September what?  September 8th? 

MS. ARLEDGE:  I don’t want to misspeak, I want to 

doublecheck.  September 7th. 

THE COURT:  7th. 

MS. ARLEDGE:  2018. 

THE COURT:  And he’s in Toronto speaking? 

MS. ARLEDGE:  Yes, at the Aesthetic Experts Symposium. 
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THE COURT:  That’s -- all right. 

MS. ARLEDGE:  Okay.  

MR. PISANELLI:  Your Honor, for point of references this 

actual evidence we can’t read along with Counsel because I didn’t 

see any of this in the record. 

MS. ARLEDGE:  Your Honor, this is -- how -- I’m 

explaining --  

THE COURT:  All right.  I’m --  

MS. ARLEDGE:  -- the basis. 

THE COURT:  Well let me just hear what their theoretical 

discovery plan -- if I was to go with --  

MS. ARLEDGE:  Sure. 

THE COURT:  -- subsection (4) would be.   

MS. ARLEDGE:  So --  

THE COURT:  Let me just hear that first. 

MS. ARLEDGE:  -- Cecily S. [phonetic], who we allege is 

the alias of Mrs. Khorsandi posted a review on Yelp dated 

September 8th, 2018 of Alo, A-L-O, Restaurant which is located in 

Toronto, Ontario.  So on the same day that Dr. Khorsandi -- within a 

day of when Dr. Khorsandi is going to be in Toronto speaking, 

Cecily S. is in Toronto doing a Yelp review. 

Dr. Khorsandi posted on Instagram that he was in New 

York, May 2nd, 2018.  Cecily S. has an April 30th post where she is 

at Dry Bar in New York, New York.  

THE COURT:  May 2nd? 
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MS. ARLEDGE:  The Yelp review by Cecily S. is April 30th.  

The date of the Instagram post that he was in New York is May 2nd.  

So within two days. 

THE COURT:  So she does a restaurant review on May 

30th, 2018 --  

MS. ARLEDGE:  April 30th, Your Honor, I apologize. 

THE COURT:  Oh, April 30th? 

MS. ARLEDGE:  April 30th. 

THE COURT:  Okay.  

MS. ARLEDGE:  And then on May 2nd Dr. Khorsandi is 

posting in New York at the Regis.  New York is --  

THE COURT:  Okay.  

MS. ARLEDGE:  -- the location. 

And just the third example -- and this is not an exhaustive 

list, I just wanted to use it to demonstrate why we need discovery.   

The third example, on January 17th, 2018 --  

THE COURT:  January what? 

MS. ARLEDGE:  17th. 

THE COURT:  Okay.  

MS. ARLEDGE:  2018.  Sorry strike that, 12th.  January 

12th. 

THE COURT:  Okay.  

MS. ARLEDGE:  Okay.  On Dr. Khorsandi’s Instagram page 

there’s a post, hashtag Dallas.  We have an answer to your skincare 

needs.  Cecily S.’s Yelp page has a review -- actually three.  January 
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18th, 2018, Cecily S posts about Bistro 31, which is a restaurant in 

Dallas, Texas.  She posts about the Mansion Restaurant, which is 

another restaurant in Dallas, Texas.  And the next day, January 

19th, 2018, she posts about Uchi, U-C-H-I, which is a Japanese 

restaurant located in Dallas, Texas.   

And Your Honor, those are just three circumstances where 

the person posting as Cecily S. is in the same city as Dr. Khorsandi, 

as posted on his social media.  So how do we know that Cecily S. is 

Dr. Khorsandi’s wife?  We have to do discovery.  

THE COURT:  All right.  So what --  

MS. ARLEDGE:  We need to know --  

THE COURT:  -- gets back -- what’s -- I’m -- if I find -- I 

mean, my reading of the statute, if I find this falls within the SLAPP 

statute, I do have the authority under (4) to allow a limited 

discovery for the purpose of ascertaining such information.  So this 

isn’t one where we get to -- once I find it, isn’t one where we get to 

do, you know, months and months of discovery work, you know?  

Limited discovery for a plan.  So tell me what limited discovery in a 

short period of time do you want to do in order to show that Cecily 

S. is either doc -- the doctor or the wife? 

MS. ARLEDGE:  We need to subpoena records to 

determine the IP address and the email account that created the 

Cecily S. Yelp review.  That will likely require a subpoena to Yelp, 

probably a Motion for a Protective Order, and some follow-up with 

respect to that.  
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We would like to take depositions and we’re willing to 

limit the depositions, initially, of Dr. Khorsandi and Mrs. Khorsandi 

with respect to this issue.  We would also like to investigate their 

records, their travel records, their spending records to prove that 

they were both in the city that Dr. Khorsandi posted he was in, 

pursuant to his own Instagram page. 

Finally, Your Honor, we would like to retain an expert to 

do a statistical analysis on what the chances are that Cecily S. is or 

is not Dr. Khorsandi’s wife based on the fact they’re in the same 

cities at the same time on multiple occasions. 

THE COURT:  I’m -- is there -- I assume you have some 

basis -- I haven’t thought of a basis that that would be admissible; 

that kind of statistical analysis --  

MS. ARLEDGE:  We have the opportunity to lay a 

foundation for that, Your Honor, yes. 

THE COURT:  All right.  Well what you're talking about, if 

you're talking doing a detailed breakdown in terms of IP addresses 

and information, it would take an extended period of time to have 

to be -- I don’t see anything in here telling me -- I mean, whether 

Yelp, that kind of information that you wanted to get from Yelp in 

terms of, you know, something that would be able to be identified 

back to them, I’m not just going to allow a fishing expedition .  

If I did anything I might allow you to do the depositions of 

the doctor and his wife and unless something came up there which 

floated a greater red herring than what I’m seeing, I would tend to 
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think that we would need to -- you wouldn’t have met the burden.  I 

mean, it’s very clear by the statute we’re talking limited discovery.  

At this point all I can see, unless you show me something more, it’s 

allowing the deposi -- and I’ll let you talk, I’m sure you want to 

answer that.  But I mean, allowing the deposition of the doctor and 

his wife and -- but -- all right, anyway, what about the -- anything 

you want to add in terms of -- you are winning on the general Rule 

12 Motion to Dismiss.  I am tending to think that you have probably 

pled them with sufficiency here, but I mean, I am troubled with the 

SLAPP.  So --  

MS. ARLEDGE:  Okay.  If --  

THE COURT:  -- you want to -- if you --  

MS. ARLEDGE:  If I can just --  

THE COURT:  You want to stop while you're ahead on 

those? 

MS. ARLEDGE:  Probably but --  

THE COURT:  Okay.  

MS. ARLEDGE:  -- to circle back to some of your 

comments regarding the Anti-SLAPP motion --  

THE COURT:  Okay.  

MS. ARLEDGE:  -- if we are potentially going to be able to 

depose Dr. Khorsandi and his wife, limited written discovery would 

be appropriate to allow us to gather records that we could then 

examine those two witnesses on with respect to these issues.  So I 

just wanted to add that. 

APP 161



 

Page 24  

1 

2 

3 

4 

5 

6 

7 

8 

9 

10 

11 

12 

13 

14 

15 

16 

17 

18 

19 

20 

21 

22 

23 

24 

25 

 

And again, just not to beat a dead horse but Your Honor, 

it’s our position that the Anti-SLAPP statute doesn’t even apply.  We 

don’t even get --  

THE COURT:  Well I’m not -- 

MS. ARLEDGE:  -- to this analysis --  

THE COURT:  -- I haven’t made a decision.  I am -- 

MS. ARLEDGE:  All right.   

THE COURT:  -- going to end up taking this under 

advisement and going back and taking a look at the California case 

a little bit more closely and this -- and the statute.  But I’m just 

asking -- like I said, the statute seems pretty clear.  I can allow 

limited discovery but an emphasis on limited means that we’re -- 

you know, you need to have something that you feel is going to, 

you know, pinpoint it and at this moment I’m sort of getting -- 

hearing that it’s a guess that you're going to do it. 

I mean, I -- like I said, I can see maybe allowing the depos 

of the doctor and his wife but the rest of it seems like sort of a shot 

in the dark to see if something pops up and so I’m hesitant on that. 

MS. ARLEDGE:  I understand your position, Your Honor, 

but the electronic evidence, the IP address information doesn’t lie 

and that’s why we’re looking for something that can be unrefuted 

and it supports our position based on those three very brief 

examples that I gave you. 

I hear you with respect to 12(b) motion.  I would just add 

that in looking at the Complaint as a whole, there are four, almost 
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five pages of nothing but facts that are incorporated into each cause 

of action so I believe the Complaint as a whole is pled properly, all 

of the causes of action satisfy the Nevada pleading requirements.  

Thank you. 

THE COURT:  I think it’s -- I tend to think it satisfies 

Nevada’s liberal pleading requirements.  So -- but -- and your -- like 

I said, if you can get past the SLAPP then I obviously would have 

more room for discovery.  All right.  

MS. ARLEDGE:  All right.  Thank you, Your Honor. 

THE COURT:  Thank you. 

All right.  I need it to be relatively quick. 

MR. PISANELLI:  Sure.  I won’t argue the Rule 12 stuff.  

Even though by liberal we sound like we’re talking Bernie Sanders 

liberal on this type of pleading standard, but that --  

THE COURT:  He’s leading --  

MR. PISANELLI:  I hear you. 

THE COURT:  -- in the polls mostly so --  

MR. PISANELLI:  I hear you. 

THE COURT:  Yeah. 

MR. PISANELLI:  So on the discovery issue, Your Honor, I 

would say this.  The -- Plaintiffs had an obligation to come forward 

with evidence in order to support their need and what it is that was 

the foundation, even under Rule 11, forget an Anti-SLAPP statute, 

and they came forward with absolutely nothing.  We all, and Your 

Honor included, sat here and listening to this connect the dots 
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exercise here for the very first time, the Anti-SLAPP statute rejects 

that type of approach. 

But even if we did, what was the unremarkable 

proposition that she offered?  That there are Yelp reviews about a 

plastic surgeon that occurred in the same locale one or two times in 

relation to Dr. Khorsandi who was at plastic surgery convention or 

speaking engagement and therefore it was his wife.  I mean, that’s 

the guessing game that they just connected for you of why they 

should get discovery and I agree with you, that’s a fishing 

expedition and it didn’t come close. 

You know, I want to argue vigorously to Your Honor that 

they shouldn’t get the deposition because we gave sworn 

testimony and we’ve already denied it and they didn’t give anything 

to rebut it.  But I understand, you know, declarations can and    

many -- oftentimes need to be challenged.  So if the ruling is that 

they get a limited deposition to challenge the denials that are 

contained in the declarations and that’s it, you know, I’m hard 

pressed to say that that’s inequitable because that does limit what 

we think the purpose of this lawsuit was in the first place, the 

paying of expensive discovery.   

So, you know, I don’t think they’ve earned it.  I don’t think 

they followed the rules that entitle them to it.  But as I said, I hear 

Your Honor looking for the equitable spot to land here on the 

discovery.  And if it’s just those two depositions for a limited 

amount of time, on limited subjects, the sky is not going to fall. 
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THE COURT:  All right.  Thank you.   

Well like I said I’m going to take it under advisement.  At 

this point in time I’ll finalize it, but I tend not to see the dismissal 

under Rule 12, but I do have some real concerns about the 

application of the Anti-SLAPP statute.  So I’m going to go back, take 

a look at that case again, the arguments -- and the arguments I 

heard to make a decision whether the SLAPP statute applies. 

If I do, I probably will lean to allow a limited discovery in 

terms of the depositions to challenge the declarations of the doctor 

and his wife. 

MR. PISANELLI:  Very good. 

THE COURT:  So just so you know what I’m leaning, if I 

decide that it’s equitable in that regard. 

MR. PISANELLI:  Okay.  Thank you. 

THE COURT:  All right.  Anything else from your side? 

MS. ARLEDGE:  No, Your Honor. 

THE COURT:  Anything else from yours? 

MR. PISANELLI:  No, Your Honor.  Thank you. 

THE COURT:  All right.  Both of you seemed like you're -- 

MS. ARLEDGE:  Defense prepare --  

THE COURT:  -- about to say -- 

MS. ARLEDGE:  -- the order --  

THE COURT:  -- something. 

MS. ARLEDGE:  Well -- oh no, you're doing a --  

THE COURT:  Yeah, I’m going to --  
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MS. ARLEDGE:  Under advisement, so. 

THE COURT:  -- doublecheck and go back and take a look 

at it. 

MS. ARLEDGE:  Do you anticipate an order or a minute 

order or --  

THE COURT:  I’ll do a minute order and then probably ask 

one or the other side to prepare an order. 

MS. ARLEDGE:  All right.  Very good. 

MR. PISANELLI:  Very good. 

MS. ARLEDGE:  Thank you, Your Honor. 

THE COURT:  All right.   

MS. BUCHWALD:  Thank you, Your Honor. 

THE COURT:  Thank you. 

MR. PISANELLI:  Thank you. 

[Proceeding concluded at 11:20 a.m.] 

* * * * * * * 
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 PLEASE TAKE NOTICE that an "Order on Defendants Christopher Khorsandi, M.D., 

Christopher Khorsandi, M.D., PLLC, and Catherine Le Khorsandi's Special Motion to Dismiss 

Pursuant to NRS 41.660, or in the Alternative, Motion to Dismiss Pursuant to NRCP 12(B)(5)" 

was entered in the above-captioned matter on March 4, 2020, a true and correct copy of which is 

attached hereto.  

  DATED this 10th day of March, 2020. 

      PISANELLI BICE PLLC 
 
 
      By:  /s/ Emily A. Buchwald     
       James J. Pisanelli, Esq., #4027 
       Emily A. Buchwald, Esq., #13442 
       400 South 7th Street, Suite 300 
       Las Vegas, Nevada  89101 
 

Attorneys for Defendants Christopher Khorsandi, 
M.D., Christopher Khorsandi, M.D., PLLC, and 
Catherine Le Khorsandi 
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CERTIFICATE OF SERVICE 
 

 I HEREBY CERTIFY that I am an employee of Pisanelli Bice PLLC, and that on this 10th 

day of March, 2020, I caused to be served via the Court's e-filing/e-service system, true and 

correct copies of the above and foregoing NOTICE OF ENTRY OF ORDER to the following: 

 
Anthony P. Sgro, Esq. 
Jennifer Willis Arledge, Esq. 
Justin W. Wilson, Esq. 
SGRO & ROGER 
720 South 7th Street, Third Floor 
Las Vegas, NV  89101 
 
 
 
       /s/ Kimberly Peets     
      An employee of Pisanelli Bice PLLC 

APP 169



2

J

4

5

6

7

8

9

10

tl

t2

13

l4

l5

t6

17

l8

19

20

22

23

24

2l

ERIC JOHNSON
DISTRICT ruDGE

DEPARTMENT XX

ORDR

EIGHTH JUDICIAL DISTRICT COURT

CLARK COUNTY, NEVADA

SMITH PLASTIC SURGERY, INC., A

Nevada Corporation, and LANE F. SMITH,
M.D., an individual,

CHRISTOPHER KHORSANDI, M.D., AN

individual, CHRISTOPHER KHORSANDI,
M.D., PLLC, a Nevada Professional LLC,
CATHERINE LE KHORSANDI, an individual;
CECILY S., a pseudonym used by CATHERINE
LE KHORSANDI; Does I-X, and Roe
Corporations I-X,

Case No. A-19-804819-C

Dept. No. XX

ORDER ON DEFENDANTS
CHRISTOPHER KHORSANDI, M.D.,
CHRISTOPHER KHORSANDI, M.D.,
PLLC, AND CATHERINE LE
KHORSANDI'S SPECIAL MOTION TO
DISMISS PURSUANT TO NRS 41.660,
OR IN THE ALTERNATIVE, MOTION
TO DISMISS PURSUANT TO NRCP
12(BXs)

Defendants.

INTRODUCTION

THIS MATTER came on for hearing before Department XX of the Eighth Judicial District

Court, the Honorable Eric Johnson presiding, on February 19,2020. Plaintiff was represented by

Jennifer Willis Arledge, ESQ. Defendants were represented by James Pisanelli, Esq. and Emily

Buchwald, Esq. At that time, the Court took the matter UNDER ADVISEMENT. After reviewing

the pleadings and papers on file herein, the Court finds the following:

DISCUSSION

Defendant argues that Nevada's Anti-SLAPP statute should apply to Plaintiff s complaint.

While Defendants deny making the statements which are the subject of the complaint, they note the

purported statements were made in direct connection with an issue of public interest in a public

forum. The Court agrees the quality of a doctor's patient care is most certainly an interest of public

interest and review sites like Yelp are public forums. Defendants argue that because the subject

matter of the purported statements falls within the ambient of communications the statute is intended

Case Number: A-19-804819-C

Electronically Filed
3/4/2020 2:31 PM
Steven D. Grierson
CLERK OF THE COURT
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DEPARTMENT XX

to protect, the burden should shift to the Plaintiffs to demonstrate they have "stated a legally

sufficient claim and made a prima facie showing suffrcient to sustain a favorable judgment." Baral

v. Schnitt, 376 P.3d604, 608 (Cal. 2016).'

The problem with the application of the Anti-SLAPP statute in this matter is that the

Defendants deny making the statements at issue. NRS 41.660(1) provides: "If an action is brought

against a person based upon a good faith communication in furtherance of the right to petition or the

right to free speech in direct connection with an issue of public concern: (a) The person against

whom the action is brought may file a special motion to dismiss." NRS 41.637(4) in turn defines

"[g]ood faith communication in furtherance of the right to petition or the right to free speech in

direct connection with an issue of public concern" as any "[c]ommunication made in direct

connection with an issue of public interest in a place open to the public or in a public forum, which

is truthful or is made without knowledge of its falsehood." Consequently, if Defendants did not

make the communications, the statute does not appear to apply to Plaintiff s complaint.

Defendant's argue the statements Plaintiff charge are the very type intended to be protected

under the under Nevada's Anti-SLAPP statutes, and Plaintiffs unsupported allegations that

Defendants made the statements highlights that this is a strategic litigation against public

participation, or SLAPP, Iawsuit. Plaintiffs largely admit that they currently have minimal evidence

supporting Defendants made the statements, relying on Yelp's location feature for posts and travel

information conceming Defendants to suggest Defendants made the posts.

Defendants argue the Court should find the instant complaint falls within the Anti-SLAPP

statute under Bel Air Internet LLC v. Morales,230 Cal.Rptr.3d71 (2018), where the court applied

the Califomia Anti-SLAPP statue in a case where defendants denied making the statements. The

I As Defendants note, 'Nevada courts regularly look to California law for guidance on issues related to

anti-SLAPP [statutes] because California's and Nevada's statutes are similar in purpose and language'"
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court stated "[the California] Supreme Court has explained that,'[i]n deciding whether the initial

'arising from' requirement is met, a court considers 'the pleadings, and supporting and opposing

affidavits stating the facts upon which the liability or defense is based."" Id. at 80. "[I]f the

complaint itself shows that a claim arises from protected conduct (supplemented, if appropriate, with

the plaintiff s description of the factual basis for its claim in its declarations), a moving party may

rely on the plaintiff s allegations alone in making the showing necessary under prong one without

submitting supporting evidence." Id. The court goes on to explain "a defendant may deny acts

alleged in the plaintiffs complaint yet also recognize that those allegations describe protected

conduct. If the defendant is required to support an anti-SLAPP motion with evidence about the

nature of his or her conduct rather than relying on the complaint itself, the defendant might not be

able to do so without contradicting his or her own understanding of the relevant events. As

mentioned above, this would create an irrational procedure in which a defendant is precluded from

mounting an anti-SLAPP challenge to factually baseless claims." Id. at 81.

However, the California Anti-SLAPP statute is arguably broader than the Nevada statute.

California: CA CIV PRO $ 425.16(bX1), provides:

A cause of action against a person arising from any act of that person in furtherance

of the person's right of petition or free speech under the United States Constitution or

the California Constitution in connection with a public issue shall be subject to a

special motion to strike, unless the court determines that the plaintiff has established

that there is a probability that the plaintiff will prevail on the claim.

The statute goes on to define an "act in furtherance of a person's right of petition or free

speech under the United States or California Constitution in connection with a public issue" to

include: "(3) any written or oral statement or writing made in a place open to the public or a public

forum in connection with an issue of public interest, or (4) any other conduct in furtherance of the

exercise of the constitutional right of petition or the constitutional right of free speech in

connection with a public issue or an issue of public interest." California: CA CIV PRO $
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a25.16(e)(3) and (4). Consequently, California protects "any act of [the person against whom

litigation is brought] in furtherance of the person's right of petition or free speech," where Nevada

provides such protection only to "good faith communication in furtherance of the right to petition or

the right to free speech."

In the context of the court's decision in Morales to apply the Anti-SLAPP statute despite

defendants' denials to making the alleged statements this distinction in statutes is important. The

Morales court concluded even if a fact finder had determined that defendants in that case had done

the acts alleged by plaintiffs, that is: encouraged other employees to quit their jobs and sue the

company, their actions would have been protected under the idea that such "petition-speech" is

protected under California state law. Consequently, defendants did not need to admit making the

statements for the Court to conclude the Anti-SLAPP statute was applicable to them.

Here, there is a fine line between saying that evaluation of a doctor's care is protected speech

and saying that potentially false statements are protected just because the subject matter of the false

statements regard a doctor's care. If this case was a case involving a former patient who denied

making the statements, then the Morales analysis would be more appropriate. But the issue here is

that, taking the Plaintiffs' allegations as true, the Defendants made the instant statements evaluating

Plaintiff without ever having been patients of Plaintiff. Accordingly, if Plaintiff s allegations are

true, Defendants cannot demonstrate a "good faith communication" required under the Nevada

statute as Defendants' statements under such an assumption would not constitute a communication

"which is truthful or is made without knowledge of its falsehood." NRS 41 .637(4).

Had the Defendants received the allegedly "bad" plastic surgery services from Plaintiff, and

consequently posted negative Yelp reviews, then maybe there would be an issue of chilling free

speech-since the purpose of anti-SLAPP litigation is to protect statements that a party actually

makes. But since Defendants deny making the statements, the Court finds there cannot be an

4
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analysis whether the statements were made in "good faith," which is the first consideration in each

of the NRS anti-SLAPP statutes:NRS 4l .637(4), NRS 41.650, NRS 41.660.

The Court in Morales also recognized this distinction between protected conduct which is

denied and unprotected conduct which is denied. The court noted "[a]n anti-SLAPP motion is a

preliminary procedure designed to weed out meritless claims arising from protected conduct. It is

not a device to decide the ultimate merits of a claim by resolving factual disputes." Morales at 83.

The court explained that is for purposes of the motion it "accept[s] plaintiffs evidence as true" for

purposes of analyzing whether the plaintiff s claim arose from protected activity. Id. *A defendant's

declaration denying that he or she engaged in the conduct alleged in the complaint does not foreclose

the possibility that a fact-finder could later find that he or she did in fact engage in that conduct.

Foreclosing an anti-SLAPP motion based upon one version of the facts would irrationally and

unfairly disregard this possibility." ld Whether defendants made the statements is a question of fact

and if defendants did make the statements they would not be protected under the Nevada Anti-

SLAPP statute.

In the Court's view, the issue at this time is not that Plaintiff has failed to state claims on

which relief can be granted, but that Plaintiff has virtually no evidence to support his

claims. Plaintiff has met the very low threshold for surviving a NRCP 12(b)(5) motion to dismiss

because he and his practice have stated claims on which relief can be granted. The Nevada Supreme

Court has held that a Plaintiffls Complaint "should be dismissed only if it appears beyond a doubt

that it could prove no set of facts, which, if true, would entitle it to relief." Buzz Stew, Ltd. Liability

Co. v. City of N. Las Vegas,l24 Nev. 224,228 (2008).

The Court, however, is concerned with allowing litigation in this matter to go forward based

on the minimal evidence Plaintiff has to establish Defendants made the statements at issue. At the

hearing on Defendants' motion, Plaintiff only presented evidence suggesting some posts made by
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Cecily S. on Yelp were made at times and in locations where Defendants were

traveling. Consequently, the evidence Plaintiff currently possesses is arguably insufficient in the

Court's view to raise even a prima facie case against Defendants. NRCP 12 (d) provides that if on a

motion to dismiss for failure to state a claim upon which relief can be granted, the Court considers

matters outside the pleadings, the Court may treat the motion as one for summary judgment. See

also Thompson v. City of North Las Vegas, 108 Nev. 435, 438, 833 P.2d 1132 (1992). Here the

entire crux of this litigation is based on Plaintiff s assertion Defendants made the statements in

question. If Defendants did not make the statements, Plaintiffs case is at an end. Consequently, the

Court in view of the limited evidence Plaintiff presented at the hearing in support of his key

allegations, treats Defendant's motion to dismiss as one for summary judgement and provides for

additional time under NRCP 56(d) for limited discovery to allow Plaintiff to demonstrate a factual

issue for the jury as to defendants making the relevant statements.

ORDER

The Court HEREBY ORDERS a hearing on March ll, 2020 at 8:30am at which time

Plaintiff shall present a plan as to expedited discovery on the question of whether Defendants made

the statements in question to allow the Court to determine whether summary judgment should be

granted on that basis. The Court encourages the parties to meet and confer prior to the hearing to

attempt to reach a joint recommendation as to an expedited discovery plan.

DATED this 4th day of March,2020.

6

ERIC JOHNS
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James J. Pisanelli, Esq., Bar No. 4027 
JJP@pisanellibice.com 
Emily A. Buchwald, Esq., Bar No. 13442 
EAB@pisanellibice.com 
PISANELLI BICE PLLC 
400 South 7th Street, Suite 300 
Las Vegas, Nevada  89101 
Telephone:  702.214.2100 
Facsimile:    702.214.2101 
 
Attorneys for Defendants Christopher  
Khorsandi, M.D., Christopher Khorsandi, M.D., PLLC,  
and Catherine Le Khorsandi 
 

EIGHTH JUDICIAL DISTRICT COURT 
 

CLARK COUNTY, NEVADA 
 
 

SMITH PLASTIC SURGERY, INC., a Nevada 
Corporation, and LANE F. SMITH, M.D., an 
individual, 
 
   Plaintiffs, 
 
v. 
 
CHRISTOPHER KHORSANDI, M.D., an 
individual, CHRISTOPHER 
KHORSANDI, M.D., PLLC, a Nevada 
Professional LLC, CATHERINE LE 
KHORSANDI, an individual; CECILY S., a 
pseudonym used by CATHERINE LE 
KHORSANDI; Does I-X, and Roe 
Corporations 1-X, 
 
   Defendants. 
 

Case No.: A-19-804819-C 
Dept. No.: XX 
 
 
 
 
CASE APPEAL STATEMENT 
 
 
 
 

 
  

Case Number: A-19-804819-C

Electronically Filed
3/31/2020 4:22 PM
Steven D. Grierson
CLERK OF THE COURT
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1.  Name of appellants filing this case appeal statement:  

 Christopher Khorsandi, M.D., Christopher Khorsandi, M.D., PLLC, and Catherine Le 

Khorsandi. 

2.  The judge issuing the decision, judgment, or order appealed from:  

The Honorable Eric Johnson, Dept. No. XX 

3.  Parties to the district court proceedings:  

Plaintiffs:  Smith Plastic Surgery, Inc. and Lane F. Smith, M.D. 

Defendants:  Christopher Khorsandi, M.D., Christopher Khorsandi, M.D., PLLC, and 

Catherine Le Khorsandi.  

4.  Parties involved in this appeal:  

Appellants: Christopher Khorsandi, M.D., Christopher Khorsandi, M.D., PLLC, and 

Catherine Le Khorsandi.  

Respondents: Smith Plastic Surgery, Inc. and Lane F. Smith, M.D. 

5.  Name, law firm, address and telephone number of all counsel on appeal:  

Counsel for Plaintiffs/Appellants: 

James J. Pisanelli, Esq., Bar No. 4027 
Emily A. Buchwald, Esq., Bar No. 13442 
PISANELLI BICE PLLC  
400 South 7th Street, Suite 300 
Las Vegas, Nevada  89101 
Telephone:  702.214.2100 
Facsimile:   702.214.21012 
 
Counsel for Defendants/Respondents: 

Anthony P. Sgro, Esq., Bar No. 3811 
Jennifer Willis Arledge, Esq., Bar No. 8729 
Colleen N. Savage, Esq., Bar No. 14947 
SGRO & ROGER 
720 South 7th Street, Third Floor 
Las Vegas, Nevada  89101 
Telephone:  702.384.9800 
Facsimile:  702.665-4120 
 
 

6.  Whether appellant is represented by appointed or retained counsel in the district 

court: 

 Appellant is represented by retained counsel in the district court.   
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7.  Whether appellant is represented by appointed or retained counsel on appeal: 

 Appellant is represented by retained counsel on appeal.  

8.  Whether appellant was granted leave to proceed in forma pauperis and the date of 

entry of the district court order granting such leave:  

 Appellant is not proceeding in forma pauperis.  

9.  The date the proceedings commenced in the district court:  

 November 4, 2019   

10.  Brief description of the nature of the action and result in the district court, including 

the type of judgment or order being appealed and the relief granted by the district 

court:  

 Plaintiffs/Respondents' action is based upon negative reviews about their medical practice 

posted on the website Yelp that they claim were either authored by Defendants/Appellants or with 

the knowledge of Defendants/Appellants.  Plaintiffs/Respondents also seek to impose liability on 

Defendant/Appellant Dr. Khorsandi for a statement he purportedly made to a patient during an 

appointment.  On November 11, 2019, Plaintiffs/Respondents brought the following causes of 

action:  (1) Slander Per Se; (2) Libel Per Se; (3) Libel Per Se; (4) Libel Per Se; (5) Libel Per Se; 

(6); Libel Per Se; (7) Libel Per Se; (8) Concert of Action, Aiding and Abetting, Civil Conspiracy; 

(9); Intentional Infliction of Emotional Distress; (10) False Light; (11) Punitive Damages; 

(12) Negligent Hiring Supervision and Training; (13) Wrongful Interference with Prospective 

Economic Advantage; (14) Preliminary Injunction.   

 Defendants/Appellants filed their Special Motion to Dismiss Pursuant to NRS 41.660, or 

in the Alternative, Motion to Dismiss Pursuant to NRCP 12(b)(5) ("Special Motion").  While 

Nevada's anti-SLAPP statute limits liability for good faith communications based on issues of 

public concern, Defendants/Appellants submitted declarations denying that they made the 

underlying statements in order to establish their good faith requirement, consistent with the 

process set forth by California courts.  Alternatively, Defendants/Appellants moved to dismiss for 

failure to state a claim.  Following argument on the Special Motion, the District Court took the 

motion under advisement on February 19, 2020. 
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 On March 4, 2020, the District Court entered its Order on Defendants Christopher 

Khorsandi, M.D., Christopher Khorsandi, M.D., PLLC, and Catherine Le Khorsandi's Special 

Motion to Dismiss Pursuant to NRS 41.660, or in the Alternative, Motion to Dismiss Pursuant to 

NRCP 12(B)(5) (hereinafter "Order").  The Order denied Defendants/Appellants' Special Motion, 

finding that despite Defendants/Appellants sworn declarations that they did not make the 

statements and Plaintiffs/Respondents' minimal evidence implicating any of the 

Defendants/Appellants in making the statements, Defendants/Appellants could not demonstrate 

that the statements were good faith communications as required by Nevada's anti-SLAPP statute.  

The District Court also denied Defendants/Appellants motion to dismiss pursuant to 

NRCP 12(b)(5). 

11.  Whether the case has previously been the subject of an appeal to or original writ 

proceeding in the Supreme Court and, if so, the caption and Supreme Court docket 

number of the prior proceeding:  

 This case has not previously been the subject of an appeal or an original writ proceeding. 

12.  Whether the appeal involves child custody or visitation:  

 This appeal does not involve child custody or visitation. 

13.  Whether the appeal involves the possibility of settlement:  

A settlement conference may assist the parties in reaching a settlement. 

  DATED this 31st day of March, 2020. 

      PISANELLI BICE PLLC 
 
 
      By:  /s/ Emily A. Buchwald     
       James J. Pisanelli, Esq., #4027 
       Emily A. Buchwald, Esq., #13442 
       400 South 7th Street, Suite 300 
       Las Vegas, Nevada  89101 
 

Attorneys for Defendants Christopher Khorsandi, 
M.D., Christopher Khorsandi, M.D., PLLC, and 
Catherine Le Khorsandi 

 

APP 179



 

   5

1

2

3

4

5

6

7

8

9

10

11

12

13

14

15

16

17

18

19

20

21

22

23

24

25

26

27

28

P
IS

A
N

E
L

L
I 
B

IC
E

  
40

0 
SO

U
T

H
 7

T
H

 S
T

R
E

E
T
, S

U
IT

E
 3

00
 

L
A

S
 V

E
G

A
S,

 N
E

V
A

D
A

 8
91

01
 

 

CERTIFICATE OF SERVICE 

 I HEREBY CERTIFY that I am an employee of Pisanelli Bice PLLC, and that on this 31st 

day of March, 2020, I caused to be served via the Court's e-filing/e-service system, true and 

correct copies of the above and foregoing CASE APPEAL STATEMENT to the following: 

 
Anthony P. Sgro, Esq. 
Jennifer Willis Arledge, Esq. 
Colleen N. Savage, Esq. 
SGRO & ROGER 
720 South 7th Street, Third Floor 
Las Vegas, NV  89101 
 
 
 
       /s/ Kimberly Peets/     
      An employee of Pisanelli Bice PLLC 
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James J. Pisanelli, Esq., Bar No. 4027 
JJP@pisanellibice.com 
Emily A. Buchwald, Esq., Bar No. 13442 
EAB@pisanellibice.com 
PISANELLI BICE PLLC 
400 South 7th Street, Suite 300 
Las Vegas, Nevada  89101 
Telephone:  702.214.2100 
Facsimile:    702.214.2101 
 
Attorneys for Defendants Christopher Khorsandi, M.D.,  
Christopher Khorsandi, M.D., PLLC,  
and Catherine Le Khorsandi 
 
 

EIGHTH JUDICIAL DISTRICT COURT 
 

CLARK COUNTY, NEVADA 
 
 

SMITH PLASTIC SURGERY, INC., a Nevada 
Corporation, and LANE F. SMITH, M.D., an 
individual, 
 
   Plaintiffs, 
 
v. 
 
CHRISTOPHER KHORSANDI, M.D., an 
individual, CHRISTOPHER 
KHORSANDI, M.D., PLLC, a Nevada 
Professional LLC, CATHERINE LE 
KHORSANDI, an individual; CECILY S., a 
pseudonym used by CATHERINE LE 
KHORSANDI; Does I-X, and Roe 
Corporations 1-X, 
 
   Defendants. 
 

Case No.: A-19-804819-C 
Dept. No.: XX 
 
 
 
 
DEFENDANTS CHRISTOPHER 
KHORSANDI, M.D., CHRISTOPHER 
KHORSANDI, M.D., PLLC, AND 
CATHERINE LE KHORSANDI'S  
NOTICE OF APPEAL 
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  Defendants Christopher Khorsandi, M.D., Christopher Khorsandi, M.D., PLLC, and 

Catherine Le Khorsandi, by and through their counsel of record, hereby appeal to the 

Supreme Court of Nevada from the Order denying Defendants Christopher Khorsandi, M.D, 

Christopher Khorsandi, M.D., PLLC, and Catherine Le Khorsandi's Special Motion to Dismiss 

Pursuant to NRS 41.660, or in the Alternative, Motion to Dismiss Pursuant to NRCP 12(b)(5), 

entered March 4, 2020 and attached hereto as Exhibit 1, the Notice of Entry of Order which was 

served on March 10, 2020, and is attached hereto as Exhibit 2. 

  DATED this 31st day of March, 2020. 

      PISANELLI BICE PLLC 
 
 
      By:  /s/ Emily A. Buchwald     
       James J. Pisanelli, Esq., #4027 
       Emily A. Buchwald, Esq., #13442 
       400 South 7th Street, Suite 300 
       Las Vegas, Nevada  89101 
 

Attorneys for Defendants Christopher Khorsandi, 
M.D., Christopher Khorsandi, M.D., PLLC, and 
Catherine Le Khorsandi 
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CERTIFICATE OF SERVICE 
 

 I HEREBY CERTIFY that I am an employee of Pisanelli Bice PLLC, and that on this 31st 

day of March, 2020, I caused to be served via the Court's e-filing/e-service system, true and 

correct copies of the above and foregoing DEFENDANTS CHRISTOPHER 

KHORSANDI, M.D., CHRISTOPHER KHORSANDI, M.D., PLLC, AND 

CATHERINE LE KHORSANDI'S NOTICE OF APPEAL to the following: 

 
Anthony P. Sgro, Esq. 
Jennifer Willis Arledge, Esq. 
Justin W. Wilson, Esq. 
SGRO & ROGER 
720 South 7th Street, Third Floor 
Las Vegas, NV  89101 
 
 
 
       /s/ Kimberly Peets     
      An employee of Pisanelli Bice PLLC 

APP 183



 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

EXHIBIT 1 

APP 184



2

J

4

5

6

7

8

9

10

tl

t2

13

l4

l5

t6

17

l8

19

20

22

23

24

2l

ERIC JOHNSON
DISTRICT ruDGE

DEPARTMENT XX

ORDR

EIGHTH JUDICIAL DISTRICT COURT

CLARK COUNTY, NEVADA

SMITH PLASTIC SURGERY, INC., A

Nevada Corporation, and LANE F. SMITH,
M.D., an individual,

CHRISTOPHER KHORSANDI, M.D., AN

individual, CHRISTOPHER KHORSANDI,
M.D., PLLC, a Nevada Professional LLC,
CATHERINE LE KHORSANDI, an individual;
CECILY S., a pseudonym used by CATHERINE
LE KHORSANDI; Does I-X, and Roe
Corporations I-X,

Case No. A-19-804819-C

Dept. No. XX

ORDER ON DEFENDANTS
CHRISTOPHER KHORSANDI, M.D.,
CHRISTOPHER KHORSANDI, M.D.,
PLLC, AND CATHERINE LE
KHORSANDI'S SPECIAL MOTION TO
DISMISS PURSUANT TO NRS 41.660,
OR IN THE ALTERNATIVE, MOTION
TO DISMISS PURSUANT TO NRCP
12(BXs)

Defendants.

INTRODUCTION

THIS MATTER came on for hearing before Department XX of the Eighth Judicial District

Court, the Honorable Eric Johnson presiding, on February 19,2020. Plaintiff was represented by

Jennifer Willis Arledge, ESQ. Defendants were represented by James Pisanelli, Esq. and Emily

Buchwald, Esq. At that time, the Court took the matter UNDER ADVISEMENT. After reviewing

the pleadings and papers on file herein, the Court finds the following:

DISCUSSION

Defendant argues that Nevada's Anti-SLAPP statute should apply to Plaintiff s complaint.

While Defendants deny making the statements which are the subject of the complaint, they note the

purported statements were made in direct connection with an issue of public interest in a public

forum. The Court agrees the quality of a doctor's patient care is most certainly an interest of public

interest and review sites like Yelp are public forums. Defendants argue that because the subject

matter of the purported statements falls within the ambient of communications the statute is intended

Case Number: A-19-804819-C

Electronically Filed
3/4/2020 2:31 PM
Steven D. Grierson
CLERK OF THE COURT
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to protect, the burden should shift to the Plaintiffs to demonstrate they have "stated a legally

sufficient claim and made a prima facie showing suffrcient to sustain a favorable judgment." Baral

v. Schnitt, 376 P.3d604, 608 (Cal. 2016).'

The problem with the application of the Anti-SLAPP statute in this matter is that the

Defendants deny making the statements at issue. NRS 41.660(1) provides: "If an action is brought

against a person based upon a good faith communication in furtherance of the right to petition or the

right to free speech in direct connection with an issue of public concern: (a) The person against

whom the action is brought may file a special motion to dismiss." NRS 41.637(4) in turn defines

"[g]ood faith communication in furtherance of the right to petition or the right to free speech in

direct connection with an issue of public concern" as any "[c]ommunication made in direct

connection with an issue of public interest in a place open to the public or in a public forum, which

is truthful or is made without knowledge of its falsehood." Consequently, if Defendants did not

make the communications, the statute does not appear to apply to Plaintiff s complaint.

Defendant's argue the statements Plaintiff charge are the very type intended to be protected

under the under Nevada's Anti-SLAPP statutes, and Plaintiffs unsupported allegations that

Defendants made the statements highlights that this is a strategic litigation against public

participation, or SLAPP, Iawsuit. Plaintiffs largely admit that they currently have minimal evidence

supporting Defendants made the statements, relying on Yelp's location feature for posts and travel

information conceming Defendants to suggest Defendants made the posts.

Defendants argue the Court should find the instant complaint falls within the Anti-SLAPP

statute under Bel Air Internet LLC v. Morales,230 Cal.Rptr.3d71 (2018), where the court applied

the Califomia Anti-SLAPP statue in a case where defendants denied making the statements. The

I As Defendants note, 'Nevada courts regularly look to California law for guidance on issues related to

anti-SLAPP [statutes] because California's and Nevada's statutes are similar in purpose and language'"
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court stated "[the California] Supreme Court has explained that,'[i]n deciding whether the initial

'arising from' requirement is met, a court considers 'the pleadings, and supporting and opposing

affidavits stating the facts upon which the liability or defense is based."" Id. at 80. "[I]f the

complaint itself shows that a claim arises from protected conduct (supplemented, if appropriate, with

the plaintiff s description of the factual basis for its claim in its declarations), a moving party may

rely on the plaintiff s allegations alone in making the showing necessary under prong one without

submitting supporting evidence." Id. The court goes on to explain "a defendant may deny acts

alleged in the plaintiffs complaint yet also recognize that those allegations describe protected

conduct. If the defendant is required to support an anti-SLAPP motion with evidence about the

nature of his or her conduct rather than relying on the complaint itself, the defendant might not be

able to do so without contradicting his or her own understanding of the relevant events. As

mentioned above, this would create an irrational procedure in which a defendant is precluded from

mounting an anti-SLAPP challenge to factually baseless claims." Id. at 81.

However, the California Anti-SLAPP statute is arguably broader than the Nevada statute.

California: CA CIV PRO $ 425.16(bX1), provides:

A cause of action against a person arising from any act of that person in furtherance

of the person's right of petition or free speech under the United States Constitution or

the California Constitution in connection with a public issue shall be subject to a

special motion to strike, unless the court determines that the plaintiff has established

that there is a probability that the plaintiff will prevail on the claim.

The statute goes on to define an "act in furtherance of a person's right of petition or free

speech under the United States or California Constitution in connection with a public issue" to

include: "(3) any written or oral statement or writing made in a place open to the public or a public

forum in connection with an issue of public interest, or (4) any other conduct in furtherance of the

exercise of the constitutional right of petition or the constitutional right of free speech in

connection with a public issue or an issue of public interest." California: CA CIV PRO $
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a25.16(e)(3) and (4). Consequently, California protects "any act of [the person against whom

litigation is brought] in furtherance of the person's right of petition or free speech," where Nevada

provides such protection only to "good faith communication in furtherance of the right to petition or

the right to free speech."

In the context of the court's decision in Morales to apply the Anti-SLAPP statute despite

defendants' denials to making the alleged statements this distinction in statutes is important. The

Morales court concluded even if a fact finder had determined that defendants in that case had done

the acts alleged by plaintiffs, that is: encouraged other employees to quit their jobs and sue the

company, their actions would have been protected under the idea that such "petition-speech" is

protected under California state law. Consequently, defendants did not need to admit making the

statements for the Court to conclude the Anti-SLAPP statute was applicable to them.

Here, there is a fine line between saying that evaluation of a doctor's care is protected speech

and saying that potentially false statements are protected just because the subject matter of the false

statements regard a doctor's care. If this case was a case involving a former patient who denied

making the statements, then the Morales analysis would be more appropriate. But the issue here is

that, taking the Plaintiffs' allegations as true, the Defendants made the instant statements evaluating

Plaintiff without ever having been patients of Plaintiff. Accordingly, if Plaintiff s allegations are

true, Defendants cannot demonstrate a "good faith communication" required under the Nevada

statute as Defendants' statements under such an assumption would not constitute a communication

"which is truthful or is made without knowledge of its falsehood." NRS 41 .637(4).

Had the Defendants received the allegedly "bad" plastic surgery services from Plaintiff, and

consequently posted negative Yelp reviews, then maybe there would be an issue of chilling free

speech-since the purpose of anti-SLAPP litigation is to protect statements that a party actually

makes. But since Defendants deny making the statements, the Court finds there cannot be an

4
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DEPARTMENT XX

analysis whether the statements were made in "good faith," which is the first consideration in each

of the NRS anti-SLAPP statutes:NRS 4l .637(4), NRS 41.650, NRS 41.660.

The Court in Morales also recognized this distinction between protected conduct which is

denied and unprotected conduct which is denied. The court noted "[a]n anti-SLAPP motion is a

preliminary procedure designed to weed out meritless claims arising from protected conduct. It is

not a device to decide the ultimate merits of a claim by resolving factual disputes." Morales at 83.

The court explained that is for purposes of the motion it "accept[s] plaintiffs evidence as true" for

purposes of analyzing whether the plaintiff s claim arose from protected activity. Id. *A defendant's

declaration denying that he or she engaged in the conduct alleged in the complaint does not foreclose

the possibility that a fact-finder could later find that he or she did in fact engage in that conduct.

Foreclosing an anti-SLAPP motion based upon one version of the facts would irrationally and

unfairly disregard this possibility." ld Whether defendants made the statements is a question of fact

and if defendants did make the statements they would not be protected under the Nevada Anti-

SLAPP statute.

In the Court's view, the issue at this time is not that Plaintiff has failed to state claims on

which relief can be granted, but that Plaintiff has virtually no evidence to support his

claims. Plaintiff has met the very low threshold for surviving a NRCP 12(b)(5) motion to dismiss

because he and his practice have stated claims on which relief can be granted. The Nevada Supreme

Court has held that a Plaintiffls Complaint "should be dismissed only if it appears beyond a doubt

that it could prove no set of facts, which, if true, would entitle it to relief." Buzz Stew, Ltd. Liability

Co. v. City of N. Las Vegas,l24 Nev. 224,228 (2008).

The Court, however, is concerned with allowing litigation in this matter to go forward based

on the minimal evidence Plaintiff has to establish Defendants made the statements at issue. At the

hearing on Defendants' motion, Plaintiff only presented evidence suggesting some posts made by

APP 189
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Cecily S. on Yelp were made at times and in locations where Defendants were

traveling. Consequently, the evidence Plaintiff currently possesses is arguably insufficient in the

Court's view to raise even a prima facie case against Defendants. NRCP 12 (d) provides that if on a

motion to dismiss for failure to state a claim upon which relief can be granted, the Court considers

matters outside the pleadings, the Court may treat the motion as one for summary judgment. See

also Thompson v. City of North Las Vegas, 108 Nev. 435, 438, 833 P.2d 1132 (1992). Here the

entire crux of this litigation is based on Plaintiff s assertion Defendants made the statements in

question. If Defendants did not make the statements, Plaintiffs case is at an end. Consequently, the

Court in view of the limited evidence Plaintiff presented at the hearing in support of his key

allegations, treats Defendant's motion to dismiss as one for summary judgement and provides for

additional time under NRCP 56(d) for limited discovery to allow Plaintiff to demonstrate a factual

issue for the jury as to defendants making the relevant statements.

ORDER

The Court HEREBY ORDERS a hearing on March ll, 2020 at 8:30am at which time

Plaintiff shall present a plan as to expedited discovery on the question of whether Defendants made

the statements in question to allow the Court to determine whether summary judgment should be

granted on that basis. The Court encourages the parties to meet and confer prior to the hearing to

attempt to reach a joint recommendation as to an expedited discovery plan.

DATED this 4th day of March,2020.
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James J. Pisanelli, Esq., Bar No. 4027 
JJP@pisanellibice.com 
Emily A. Buchwald, Esq., Bar No. 13442 
EAB@pisanellibice.com 
PISANELLI BICE PLLC 
400 South 7th Street, Suite 300 
Las Vegas, Nevada  89101 
Telephone:  702.214.2100 
Facsimile:    702.214.2101 
 
Attorneys for Defendants Christopher Khorsandi, M.D.,  
Christopher Khorsandi, M.D., PLLC,  
and Catherine Le Khorsandi 
 
 

EIGHTH JUDICIAL DISTRICT COURT 
 

CLARK COUNTY, NEVADA 
 
 

SMITH PLASTIC SURGERY, INC., a Nevada 
Corporation, and LANE F. SMITH, M.D., an 
individual, 
 
   Plaintiffs, 
 
v. 
 
CHRISTOPHER KHORSANDI, M.D., an 
individual, CHRISTOPHER 
KHORSANDI, M.D., PLLC, a Nevada 
Professional LLC, CATHERINE LE 
KHORSANDI, an individual; CECILY S., a 
pseudonym used by CATHERINE LE 
KHORSANDI; Does I-X, and Roe 
Corporations 1-X, 
 
   Defendants. 
 

Case No.: A-19-804819-C 
Dept. No.: XX 
 
 
 
 
NOTICE OF ENTRY OF ORDER ON 
DEFENDANTS' SPECIAL MOTION TO 
DISMISS 
 
 
 
 
Date of Hearing: February 19, 2020 
 
Time of Hearing: 10:30 a.m. 
 

 
  

Case Number: A-19-804819-C

Electronically Filed
3/10/2020 10:35 AM
Steven D. Grierson
CLERK OF THE COURT
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 PLEASE TAKE NOTICE that an "Order on Defendants Christopher Khorsandi, M.D., 

Christopher Khorsandi, M.D., PLLC, and Catherine Le Khorsandi's Special Motion to Dismiss 

Pursuant to NRS 41.660, or in the Alternative, Motion to Dismiss Pursuant to NRCP 12(B)(5)" 

was entered in the above-captioned matter on March 4, 2020, a true and correct copy of which is 

attached hereto.  

  DATED this 10th day of March, 2020. 

      PISANELLI BICE PLLC 
 
 
      By:  /s/ Emily A. Buchwald     
       James J. Pisanelli, Esq., #4027 
       Emily A. Buchwald, Esq., #13442 
       400 South 7th Street, Suite 300 
       Las Vegas, Nevada  89101 
 

Attorneys for Defendants Christopher Khorsandi, 
M.D., Christopher Khorsandi, M.D., PLLC, and 
Catherine Le Khorsandi 
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CERTIFICATE OF SERVICE 
 

 I HEREBY CERTIFY that I am an employee of Pisanelli Bice PLLC, and that on this 10th 

day of March, 2020, I caused to be served via the Court's e-filing/e-service system, true and 

correct copies of the above and foregoing NOTICE OF ENTRY OF ORDER to the following: 

 
Anthony P. Sgro, Esq. 
Jennifer Willis Arledge, Esq. 
Justin W. Wilson, Esq. 
SGRO & ROGER 
720 South 7th Street, Third Floor 
Las Vegas, NV  89101 
 
 
 
       /s/ Kimberly Peets     
      An employee of Pisanelli Bice PLLC 
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ERIC JOHNSON
DISTRICT ruDGE

DEPARTMENT XX

ORDR

EIGHTH JUDICIAL DISTRICT COURT

CLARK COUNTY, NEVADA

SMITH PLASTIC SURGERY, INC., A

Nevada Corporation, and LANE F. SMITH,
M.D., an individual,

CHRISTOPHER KHORSANDI, M.D., AN

individual, CHRISTOPHER KHORSANDI,
M.D., PLLC, a Nevada Professional LLC,
CATHERINE LE KHORSANDI, an individual;
CECILY S., a pseudonym used by CATHERINE
LE KHORSANDI; Does I-X, and Roe
Corporations I-X,

Case No. A-19-804819-C

Dept. No. XX

ORDER ON DEFENDANTS
CHRISTOPHER KHORSANDI, M.D.,
CHRISTOPHER KHORSANDI, M.D.,
PLLC, AND CATHERINE LE
KHORSANDI'S SPECIAL MOTION TO
DISMISS PURSUANT TO NRS 41.660,
OR IN THE ALTERNATIVE, MOTION
TO DISMISS PURSUANT TO NRCP
12(BXs)

Defendants.

INTRODUCTION

THIS MATTER came on for hearing before Department XX of the Eighth Judicial District

Court, the Honorable Eric Johnson presiding, on February 19,2020. Plaintiff was represented by

Jennifer Willis Arledge, ESQ. Defendants were represented by James Pisanelli, Esq. and Emily

Buchwald, Esq. At that time, the Court took the matter UNDER ADVISEMENT. After reviewing

the pleadings and papers on file herein, the Court finds the following:

DISCUSSION

Defendant argues that Nevada's Anti-SLAPP statute should apply to Plaintiff s complaint.

While Defendants deny making the statements which are the subject of the complaint, they note the

purported statements were made in direct connection with an issue of public interest in a public

forum. The Court agrees the quality of a doctor's patient care is most certainly an interest of public

interest and review sites like Yelp are public forums. Defendants argue that because the subject

matter of the purported statements falls within the ambient of communications the statute is intended

Case Number: A-19-804819-C

Electronically Filed
3/4/2020 2:31 PM
Steven D. Grierson
CLERK OF THE COURT
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to protect, the burden should shift to the Plaintiffs to demonstrate they have "stated a legally

sufficient claim and made a prima facie showing suffrcient to sustain a favorable judgment." Baral

v. Schnitt, 376 P.3d604, 608 (Cal. 2016).'

The problem with the application of the Anti-SLAPP statute in this matter is that the

Defendants deny making the statements at issue. NRS 41.660(1) provides: "If an action is brought

against a person based upon a good faith communication in furtherance of the right to petition or the

right to free speech in direct connection with an issue of public concern: (a) The person against

whom the action is brought may file a special motion to dismiss." NRS 41.637(4) in turn defines

"[g]ood faith communication in furtherance of the right to petition or the right to free speech in

direct connection with an issue of public concern" as any "[c]ommunication made in direct

connection with an issue of public interest in a place open to the public or in a public forum, which

is truthful or is made without knowledge of its falsehood." Consequently, if Defendants did not

make the communications, the statute does not appear to apply to Plaintiff s complaint.

Defendant's argue the statements Plaintiff charge are the very type intended to be protected

under the under Nevada's Anti-SLAPP statutes, and Plaintiffs unsupported allegations that

Defendants made the statements highlights that this is a strategic litigation against public

participation, or SLAPP, Iawsuit. Plaintiffs largely admit that they currently have minimal evidence

supporting Defendants made the statements, relying on Yelp's location feature for posts and travel

information conceming Defendants to suggest Defendants made the posts.

Defendants argue the Court should find the instant complaint falls within the Anti-SLAPP

statute under Bel Air Internet LLC v. Morales,230 Cal.Rptr.3d71 (2018), where the court applied

the Califomia Anti-SLAPP statue in a case where defendants denied making the statements. The

I As Defendants note, 'Nevada courts regularly look to California law for guidance on issues related to

anti-SLAPP [statutes] because California's and Nevada's statutes are similar in purpose and language'"
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court stated "[the California] Supreme Court has explained that,'[i]n deciding whether the initial

'arising from' requirement is met, a court considers 'the pleadings, and supporting and opposing

affidavits stating the facts upon which the liability or defense is based."" Id. at 80. "[I]f the

complaint itself shows that a claim arises from protected conduct (supplemented, if appropriate, with

the plaintiff s description of the factual basis for its claim in its declarations), a moving party may

rely on the plaintiff s allegations alone in making the showing necessary under prong one without

submitting supporting evidence." Id. The court goes on to explain "a defendant may deny acts

alleged in the plaintiffs complaint yet also recognize that those allegations describe protected

conduct. If the defendant is required to support an anti-SLAPP motion with evidence about the

nature of his or her conduct rather than relying on the complaint itself, the defendant might not be

able to do so without contradicting his or her own understanding of the relevant events. As

mentioned above, this would create an irrational procedure in which a defendant is precluded from

mounting an anti-SLAPP challenge to factually baseless claims." Id. at 81.

However, the California Anti-SLAPP statute is arguably broader than the Nevada statute.

California: CA CIV PRO $ 425.16(bX1), provides:

A cause of action against a person arising from any act of that person in furtherance

of the person's right of petition or free speech under the United States Constitution or

the California Constitution in connection with a public issue shall be subject to a

special motion to strike, unless the court determines that the plaintiff has established

that there is a probability that the plaintiff will prevail on the claim.

The statute goes on to define an "act in furtherance of a person's right of petition or free

speech under the United States or California Constitution in connection with a public issue" to

include: "(3) any written or oral statement or writing made in a place open to the public or a public

forum in connection with an issue of public interest, or (4) any other conduct in furtherance of the

exercise of the constitutional right of petition or the constitutional right of free speech in

connection with a public issue or an issue of public interest." California: CA CIV PRO $
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a25.16(e)(3) and (4). Consequently, California protects "any act of [the person against whom

litigation is brought] in furtherance of the person's right of petition or free speech," where Nevada

provides such protection only to "good faith communication in furtherance of the right to petition or

the right to free speech."

In the context of the court's decision in Morales to apply the Anti-SLAPP statute despite

defendants' denials to making the alleged statements this distinction in statutes is important. The

Morales court concluded even if a fact finder had determined that defendants in that case had done

the acts alleged by plaintiffs, that is: encouraged other employees to quit their jobs and sue the

company, their actions would have been protected under the idea that such "petition-speech" is

protected under California state law. Consequently, defendants did not need to admit making the

statements for the Court to conclude the Anti-SLAPP statute was applicable to them.

Here, there is a fine line between saying that evaluation of a doctor's care is protected speech

and saying that potentially false statements are protected just because the subject matter of the false

statements regard a doctor's care. If this case was a case involving a former patient who denied

making the statements, then the Morales analysis would be more appropriate. But the issue here is

that, taking the Plaintiffs' allegations as true, the Defendants made the instant statements evaluating

Plaintiff without ever having been patients of Plaintiff. Accordingly, if Plaintiff s allegations are

true, Defendants cannot demonstrate a "good faith communication" required under the Nevada

statute as Defendants' statements under such an assumption would not constitute a communication

"which is truthful or is made without knowledge of its falsehood." NRS 41 .637(4).

Had the Defendants received the allegedly "bad" plastic surgery services from Plaintiff, and

consequently posted negative Yelp reviews, then maybe there would be an issue of chilling free

speech-since the purpose of anti-SLAPP litigation is to protect statements that a party actually

makes. But since Defendants deny making the statements, the Court finds there cannot be an

4
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analysis whether the statements were made in "good faith," which is the first consideration in each

of the NRS anti-SLAPP statutes:NRS 4l .637(4), NRS 41.650, NRS 41.660.

The Court in Morales also recognized this distinction between protected conduct which is

denied and unprotected conduct which is denied. The court noted "[a]n anti-SLAPP motion is a

preliminary procedure designed to weed out meritless claims arising from protected conduct. It is

not a device to decide the ultimate merits of a claim by resolving factual disputes." Morales at 83.

The court explained that is for purposes of the motion it "accept[s] plaintiffs evidence as true" for

purposes of analyzing whether the plaintiff s claim arose from protected activity. Id. *A defendant's

declaration denying that he or she engaged in the conduct alleged in the complaint does not foreclose

the possibility that a fact-finder could later find that he or she did in fact engage in that conduct.

Foreclosing an anti-SLAPP motion based upon one version of the facts would irrationally and

unfairly disregard this possibility." ld Whether defendants made the statements is a question of fact

and if defendants did make the statements they would not be protected under the Nevada Anti-

SLAPP statute.

In the Court's view, the issue at this time is not that Plaintiff has failed to state claims on

which relief can be granted, but that Plaintiff has virtually no evidence to support his

claims. Plaintiff has met the very low threshold for surviving a NRCP 12(b)(5) motion to dismiss

because he and his practice have stated claims on which relief can be granted. The Nevada Supreme

Court has held that a Plaintiffls Complaint "should be dismissed only if it appears beyond a doubt

that it could prove no set of facts, which, if true, would entitle it to relief." Buzz Stew, Ltd. Liability

Co. v. City of N. Las Vegas,l24 Nev. 224,228 (2008).

The Court, however, is concerned with allowing litigation in this matter to go forward based

on the minimal evidence Plaintiff has to establish Defendants made the statements at issue. At the

hearing on Defendants' motion, Plaintiff only presented evidence suggesting some posts made by
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Cecily S. on Yelp were made at times and in locations where Defendants were

traveling. Consequently, the evidence Plaintiff currently possesses is arguably insufficient in the

Court's view to raise even a prima facie case against Defendants. NRCP 12 (d) provides that if on a

motion to dismiss for failure to state a claim upon which relief can be granted, the Court considers

matters outside the pleadings, the Court may treat the motion as one for summary judgment. See

also Thompson v. City of North Las Vegas, 108 Nev. 435, 438, 833 P.2d 1132 (1992). Here the

entire crux of this litigation is based on Plaintiff s assertion Defendants made the statements in

question. If Defendants did not make the statements, Plaintiffs case is at an end. Consequently, the

Court in view of the limited evidence Plaintiff presented at the hearing in support of his key

allegations, treats Defendant's motion to dismiss as one for summary judgement and provides for

additional time under NRCP 56(d) for limited discovery to allow Plaintiff to demonstrate a factual

issue for the jury as to defendants making the relevant statements.

ORDER

The Court HEREBY ORDERS a hearing on March ll, 2020 at 8:30am at which time

Plaintiff shall present a plan as to expedited discovery on the question of whether Defendants made

the statements in question to allow the Court to determine whether summary judgment should be

granted on that basis. The Court encourages the parties to meet and confer prior to the hearing to

attempt to reach a joint recommendation as to an expedited discovery plan.

DATED this 4th day of March,2020.
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